FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

1

2

1

1

z

MICHAEL THOMAS COOLEN, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee. Case No. 84,018

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT







TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of three parts, numbered 1-1366, 1-549, and 1-6. The first part includes documents filed with the clerk, depositions, and transcripts from the penalty and sentencing proceedings. References to this portion of the record will be designated "R", followed by the appropriate page number.

The second part of the record on appeal consists of transcripts from the pretrial motion hearings, jury selection, and the guilt or innocence trial. References to this portion of the record will be designated "T", followed by the appropriate page number.

The final part of the record on appeal consists of a six page supplement filed April 25, 1995. References to this portion of the record will be designated "S", followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pinellas County grand jury indicted Michael Coolen, Appellant, on November 10, 1992, for first-degree murder in the stabbing death of John Kellar (R4-5). The State's motion in limine to limit the defense from cross-examining Barbara Caughman-Kellar with respect to subsequent sexual conduct with the victim's fourteen-year-old son which resulted in her being charged with a criminal offense was heard and granted (T5-11).

After a jury had been selected but prior to commencement of trial, Appellant moved to excise portions of his taped statement to police because reference was made to his prior criminal record in Massachusetts (T209-13, R714-28). The court ruled that the tape of the entire statement could be played to the jury because it reflected Coolen's attitude and explained his actions during the incident (T219).

Trial was held before Circuit Judge W. Douglas Baird and a jury on April 12-15, 1994 (T1-549). During the cross-examination of the homicide victim's wife, Barbara Caughman-Kellar, the defense profferred an exhibit containing the police report on the sexual battery complaint filed by her stepson (T337-49, R1008). The court rejected Appellant's contention that the subject matter of the charge bore on the credibility of the witness (T338-45). The court did allow the defense to bring out the fact that the witness had pled guilty to a felony and had been placed on pretrial intervention; but did not permit mention of the nature of the charge (T345-50).

Before Jamie Caughman, the victim's stepson, testified, Appellant moved in limine to bar him from testifying about an incident which allegedly occurred earlier on the evening of the homicide (T361-9). Defense counsel contended that the stepson's testimony about Appellant allegedly pulling a knife on him about an hour prior to the stabbing was an inadmissible prior bad act being used to show propensity (T367-8). The court ruled that the testimony was relevant as part of "the nature of his [Coolen's] conduct that evening" (T369).

In his motion for judgment of acquittal, Appellant argued that the State had failed to adduce any evidence of premeditation (T458-60). The trial judge denied Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal of first-degree murder (T463-4). The defense rested without calling any witnesses (T464).

During the prosecutor's closing argument, Appellant moved for mistrial on three separate occasions (T500, 508, 516). The court denied each of the motions for mistrial (T500, 508, 516). The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree as charged (T544).

In the subsequent penalty phase, Appellant requested a limitation on the amount of witness testimony that the State would be allowed to present concerning the prior violent felony convictions (R1139-40). He also complained that the State was essentially presenting victim impact evidence with respect to the prior convictions (R1141-2). He further objected to the extraneous material written on the certified copies of the Massachusetts

judgments offered as State exhibits (R1179-82). The trial court overruled each of the objections (R1142, 1182).

During the defense case for mitigation, the State objected to hearsay testimony from witness Kathryn Coolen concerning Appellant's treatment as a youngster at the Judge Baker Clinic (R1189-91). The court sustained the State's objection, but allowed defense counsel to proffer testimony that the Judge Baker Clinic specialized in treatment of hyperactive children; that Coolen was taken there when he was eight or nine years old; and that his mother refused to return because the doctors suggested that she needed counseling as well (R1191-2, 1194-6).

The court also restricted testimony in mitigation by defense witness Matthew D'Ambrozio (R1210-1). This testimony about threats made against Coolen while he was employed at the Department of Public Works was also proffered (R1214-5).

During the penalty phase jury instruction conference, Appellant's request for a special jury instruction on "lack of intent to kill the victim" as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance was denied (R1259-60). The jury, by a vote of 8-4, recommended that a sentence of death be imposed (R1312).

Sentencing was held June 20, 1994 (R1339-47). The court found one aggravating circumstance applicable; conviction of prior violent felony [section 921.141 (5) (b), Fla. Stat. (1991)] (R1340, 1088-9, see Appendix). In mitigation, the court found that no statutory mitigation existed and that nonstatutory factors of employment background, participation in self-help

programs while in jail, and being a caring relative were established (R1341-4, 1091-9, see Appendix). The judge gave no weight whatsoever to the nonstatutory mitigating factors of employment background and participation in self-help programs (R1342-5, 1096, see Appendix). He gave "only slight or marginal weight" to the "caring relative" mitigating factor (R1344-5, 1098-9, see Appendix). The court found that the aggravating circumstance outweighed the mitigation and imposed a sentence of death (R1345-6, 1099-1100, see Appendix).

On June 30, 1994, the court heard and denied Appellant's motion for new trial (R1103, 1108, S5). A timely notice of appeal was filed July 7, 1994 (R1109). The Public Defenders of the Sixth and Tenth Circuits were appointed to represent Coolen on appeal (R1121).

Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3 (b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. GUILT OR INNOCENCE PHASE

On the afternoon of November 7, 1992, Barbara and John Kellar went to the Bradford Pub on Roosevelt Boulevard in Clearwater (T320-2). While they were drinking beer, they struck up a conversation with Michael Coolen, Appellant, and his girlfriend, Deborah Morabito (T322-3). The two couples drank beer and talked for three or four hours (T323). When the Kellars decided that it was time to go home to check on their children, they invited Coolen and Morabito to accompany them (T323-4).

The Kellars' residence was about one mile from the Bradford Pub (T321). On the way, each of the couples purchased a twelve pack of beer (T324-5). When they arrived at the Kellars' duplex, Coolen and Morabito parked their van in a wooded area behind the apartment (T326-7). The two couples sat outside around the van drinking beer (T327). As Barbara Kellar testified at trial, "we were all buzzed" (T328, 351).

Ms. Kellar's eight-year-old son James saw some fireworks in the van and Coolen agreed to shoot them off for him (T326-8). After Coolen returned to the van, there came a time when Deborah Morabito and John Kellar went into the apartment (T328-9). According to Barbara Kellar's testimony at trial, Coolen put his hand inside her shirt and she pushed him away (T329). Ms. Kellar did not see where Coolen went after this incident (T329).

When her husband returned, the Kellars were by the passenger side of the van (T329). Barbara Kellar testified that suddenly,

she saw her husband being backed up to the house and Coolen striking him (T330). She couldn't see whether Coolen had anything in his hand (T330). She heard John Kellar hollering; and ran to him when she saw him fall to the ground (T330). She covered his body and was struck herself by Coolen before he backed off (T330-1).

Barbara Kellar said that Coolen ran to the van and started to drive away (T331). Coolen hit a tree and the Kellars' truck in the process of leaving the yard (T331). It wasn't until she helped her husband into the house and saw all the blood that she realized that he had been stabbed (T332).

When Pinellas County Sheriff's Deputy Kenneth Wright arrived at the scene a few minutes later, he encountered eight-year-old James; who pointed out the van driving by on an adjacent street (T238-9). He decided to pursue the vehicle and stopped it nearby on Roosevelt Boulevard (T239-41). Coolen and Morabito were transported back to the Kellar residence where they were identified by Barbara Kellar (T248-9).

Deputy Dennis Peay testified that he tried to interview John Kellar at the scene but the victim was in too much pain to respond (T270). A helicopter transported Mr. Kellar to Bayfront Hospital in St. Petersburg (T270). Deputy Peay said that when Coolen later learned that Kellar had died, "he was hurt by it" (T291).

The medical examiner, Dr. Marie Hansen, performed an autopsy on the victim November 9, 1992 (T426). She determined that there

were six stab wounds to the body (T427). Two of these stab wounds were potentially fatal (T434, 436). A blood alcohol evaluation on the victim showed a .22 level, well over twice the legal limit for driving (T445-6). Dr. Hansen testified that if a person drank eighteen beers over an eight hour period, a .22 blood alcohol level might be reached (T450). A person who is habituated to alcohol might "be able to walk and do purposeful movements" even at a higher blood alcohol level, whereas a person unused to alcohol "may be dead at that level" (T451).

Deputy Michael Bailey testified that he could smell alcohol on Coolen (T260). Coolen told him that he had been drinking all day (T260). Deputy Peay stated that he determined that Coolen was intoxicated (T282). He observed that Coolen's motions were slow; his eyes were bloodshot; his speech was "somewhat slurred" (T283). If the deputy had stopped Coolen while driving, "he would have been arrested for DUI" (T283, 295).

Detective Michael Madden interviewed Coolen at the Sheriff's Administration Building around 2;00 a.m., approximately four hours after the stabbing (T398,401-2). The tape of this interview was played to the jury (T404-5). In his statement, Coolen admitted stabbing John Kellar with the knife which had been seized from the pocket of Deborah Morabito's coat (R716-8, T257-8). He explained that he was "playing word games" with Barbara Kellar, when John Kellar "copped an attitude" (R718). Appellant saw "something silver" in John Kellar's hand and thought that it might be the "little bitty twenty-two" handgun that Kellar had

said he owned (R716). Coolen continued:

that's when I saw the flash, I don't know what he had in his hand. But I told you, he told me he had a twenty-two. It could of been a little fucking twenty-two, pull it back, that fucking twenty-two will kill me. So I stabbed him. And I ran.

(R720).

Barbara Kellar testified that her husband had owned both a shotgun and a small twenty-two pistol (T353-4). However, he did not bring them out anytime on the evening of the homicide (T353-5). She denied that her husband had fired the pistol that evening (T356). She admitted that she requested her brother-inlaw to take the guns out of the house the day after the incident, but denied that the removal had anything to do with the pistol being fired (T355-6).

Barbara Kellar further denied that there was any argument between her husband and Coolen (T357). According to her, John Kellar "never said anything" and Coolen "came out of nowhere" (T357). John Kellar had a Busch Light beer can (silver in color) in his hand during most of the evening (T361).

James Caughman, Barbara Kellar's son, agreed that John Kellar had owned a twenty-two handgun, but he didn't see it that evening (T382). James testified that John Kellar got angry with Michael Coolen just before the stabbing because Coolen was picking up his beer (T383, 389-90). He described the stabbing incident as "fighting over the beer can" (T376).

Over objection, James was allowed to testify to an incident that allegedly occurred earlier that evening between Coolen and

himself (T361-9). The boy related at trial that he was lighting off fireworks with Coolen (T374). Then, while they were playing tag, James stepped on the door of the van (T374). The boy testified:

> he [Coolen] took me away from the van, put me on the ground and he took the knife out of his pocket and told me not to step on the door again.

(T374). James further alleged that Coolen threatened him with the knife and that he was scared (T380, 387).

On cross-examination, James was impeached by his deposition where he said that Coolen showed him the knife and told him that it was expensive (T380). At deposition, James specifically denied that Coolen ever threatened him with the knife (T381). The boy had to concede that he said at deposition that he wasn't threatened (T381). On further questioning, James admitted that while they were playing with fireworks, he had thrown one at his parents and Debbie Morabito (T388). James denied that Coolen had reprimanded him for throwing the firecracker (T388-9).

Over further defense objection, Detective Madden was permitted to testify to what James Caughman had told him two days after the homicide (T 395-7). The detective stated:

> He [James] started to climb up in it [the van] and Michael [Coolen] came up from behind him. Pulled him by the shirt. Pulled out a knife. Threatened him with it. He said it was a shiny silver knife. Folding knife. That he told him, "Don't do that again or I'll kill you.

(T398).

B. PENALTY PHASE

Michael Bylsma testified for the State with regard to the circumstances surrounding incidents in 1980 and 1987 which resulted in Appellant being convicted for violent felonies (R1145-68). The incident in the fall of 1980 started when Bylsma and a friend noticed that two cars had all of their tires flat and they saw Coolen running around with a knife (R1147-8). As Coolen ran past a porch where two girls were sitting, he "took a swipe at them with his knife" (R1149). This infuriated Bylsma's companion, John Zackular, who started chasing Coolen up the street (R1149). Bylsma followed (R1149).

Eventually, they cornered Coolen by a chain link fence (R1149). Zackular and Bylsma each had half of a broken brick in their hands (R1149). Zackular challenged Coolen to fight, but Bylsma tried to stop him because Coolen had a knife (R1150). Coolen then lunged at Bylsma and stabbed him three times (R1150-1). Bylsma was in a coma for three months after the stabbing (R1151-2). On cross-examination, Bylsma admitted that Coolen was running in the direction of his own home, while he and Zackular were chasing him (R1159). Bylsma also agreed that Zackular had a brick in his hand and wanted to fight Coolen (R1159, 1162).

The second incident occurred after Coolen had served time in prison for stabbing Bylsma. On Halloween evening in 1987, the Stadium Cafe in Everett, Maasachusetts, conducted a competition for the best costume (R1152). Bylsma was seated at the bar, when

Coolen entered, wearing a costume (R1153). Coolen motioned to Bylsma and said, "I'm going to get you" (R1153-4). When Bylsma left his barstool yelling, "Come on, if it's going to take this"; the bartender jumped over the bar and ejected Coolen (R1153, 1164). Once Coolen had been escorted from the bar, Bylsma's family and friends stood in the doorway and outside the cafe (R1154, 1170-3). Bylsma's brother, John Ellis, Jr., testified that Coolen went to his car on the other side of the street and pulled out a club with a spike in it (R1170-3). Coolen was "jumping up and down" and shouting, "I'll kill youse all, come on" (R1171, 1173).

Later that night when Bylsma returned home, Coolen followed in his vehicle (R1154). As Bylsma started up the stairs, he heard Coolen saying, "Mikey, Mikey, we got some unfinished business to settle" (R1154). Coolen was behind him carrying a bat and a butcher knife (R1154). Bylsma decided to pretend that he was reaching for a pistol and told Coolen, "You deserve it ... now I can kill you" (R1155). As Coolen retreated, Bylsma followed him to the middle of the street (R1155). According to Bylsma's testimony, Coolen started his car and attempted to run Bylsma over (R1155).

Bylsma's stepfather, John Ellis, Sr., testified that minutes later, Coolen was back outside their home beating on the electric meter with a baseball bat (R1177). Coolen was shouting that he would burn the house down and kill the whole family (R1177-8). The police arrived and apprehended Coolen (R1178).

Coolen pled guilty to three separate charges of assault with a dangerous weapon, one for each of the weapons with which he confronted Bylsma (R1181). The state introduced into evidence four other Massachusetts convictions for violent felonies (including the one for stabbing Bylsma) which Coolen pled to in 1980 (R1181-2).

In the defense case for mitigation, Kathryn Coolen, Appellant's aunt, testified that during the first sixteen years of Appellant's life, their families saw each other almost every week (R1184-5). She characterized Appellant's mother as "terribly strict and dominant to the point she was abusive" (R1186). She said that Appellant was "very hyper" as a child (R1186). The mother's solution was to chain him in the backyard like a dog from the time he was three until he reached the second grade in school (R1186-7). His mother "had a bad habit of pinching him terribly all the time", hitting him and calling him foul names (R1187). Although the parents showed much affection to Appellant's sisters, they showed none to him and his brother (R1188).

While Appellant's mother did not frequent bars, she did a lot of drinking at home (R1189). When the witness attempted to testify about what occurred when Appellant and his mother went to the Judge Baker Clinic (juvenile psychiatry), the State's hearsay objection was sustained (R1189-92).

Judy O'Connor, daughter of Kathryn Coolen and Appellant's cousin, recalled family visits when they were growing up (R1197-8). She characterized Appellant's parents as "mean" and said

that they often yelled at Appellant and his younger brother (R1199). Even when Appellant hadn't done anything, his mother "would hit or smack him" "just in case he wanted to get in trouble" (R1199). She remembered seeing Appellant and his brother tied to trees when they were young (R1200). On the other hand, their sister "could do no wrong and was sweet and wonderful in the parents' eyes" (R1200). Neither of the parents showed much affection to Appellant (R1200-1).

A videotaped deposition given by Michelle Garrity, Appellant's younger sister, was played for the jury (R1216-25). She testified that Appellant was ten years older than her and that he often babysat when she was growing up (R1217-8). He was a kind brother who was never violent towards her (R1218-9).

In November 1989, Appellant moved in with her, her husband and their daughter (R1220). He resided with them for six or seven months (R1220). He contributed to household expenses and helped take care of their infant daughter (R1220-2). Even after Appellant moved out of their house, he continued to babysit for them (R1223-4).

When Appellant was 29, his 23 year-old brother, Ronald, died in an auto accident (R1225). Garrity testified that Appellant was "really bothered" by the loss of his brother (R1225).

Other witnesses testified that Appellant was a hard worker when he was employed. William Najar, the owner of a sign shop, testified that he had known Appellant since he was six or seven because their families socialized together (R1203). Appellant

worked for his business off and on as a laborer (R1204-5). He was a willing worker and Najar would have employed him full-time if there had been enough business (R1205-6).

An officer with the Middle Sixth [sic] County Sheriff's Department, Matthew D'Ambrozio, testified that he had been a coworker with Appellant on a road crew some years ago (R1207-8, 1212). They became close friends (R1208). Over the years, Appellant babysat his children (R1208-9). D'Ambrozio said that he had never seen Appellant "blow up" or even argue with other people (R1209-10).

Debra Morabito, Appellant's companion on the night of the homicide, testified that she had known Appellant for about sixteen years (R1226). He had never been abusive or violent towards her during the entire time she knew him (R1228). On the other hand, he drank excessively at times (R1228). She considered him to be an alcoholic and had suggested to him that he go to Alcoholics Anonymous (R1229-30).

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