IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 28 1996

MICHAEL THOMAS COOLEN,

Appellant/Cross Appellee,

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By
Crief Day of Serk

VS.

Case No.: 84,018

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE INITIAL BRIEF OF THE CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar ID No.: 0445071
2002 North Lois Avenue
Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

We have held that the State may not bar relevant mitigating evidence from being presented and considered during the penalty phase of a capital trial. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So.2d 685, 689 (Fla.1990), vacated on other grounds. --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 3020, 120 L.Ed.2d 892 (1992). Further, a defendant in a capital

case has an absolute right to introduce nonstatutory mitigating evidence at the penalty phase of his trial. Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978). In Florida, remorse is a proper nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. Smalley v. State, 546 So.2d 720, 723 (Fla.1989). However, a defendant's right to introduce hearsay testimony at the sentencing phase is not unlimited. Hitchcock, 578 So.2d at 690. "While the rules of evidence have been relaxed somewhat for penalty proceedings they have not been rescinded . . . [There is no merit] to [the] claim that the state must abide by the rules but that defendants need not do s o . "

In the instance case, Griffin was not precluded from presenting evidence of remorse. In fact, the judge expressly found remorse as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. The judge acted within his discretion to preclude Griffin from eliciting hearsay testimony from witnesses to the effect that Griffin had made **self**-serving statements that he was sorry for murdering Officer Martin.

We find that the newspaper article was also properly excluded, At the time of trial, the individual who wrote the article, Mr. Randy Gage, was available and testified. At trial, Mr. Gage stated that he had written the article, and related his knowledge of Griffm's background, character, and culpability as contained in the article. Further, he was permitted to testify as to his opinion on alleged shortcomings in the "system," as reflected in the article. The trial judge did not err in precluding Griffin from reading the article to the jury.

Id. at 97 **1-** 72. (Emphasis added)

The trial court, in the instant case, found this testimony to be not only hearsay but, double and triple hearsay and, therefore, inadmissible. (R. 1191) This holding was within the trial court's discretion and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion.

Furthermore, as defense counsel had already questioned the aunt as to whether **Coolen** needed treatment and, if so, did he receive it, the only testimony excluded was Kathryn **Coolen's** multiple hearsay testimony that **Coolen's** mother declined counseling because the clinic wanted to include her in that counseling. (R. 1189) Accordingly, error, if any, was harmless beyond a

reasonable doubt.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT ALLEGEDLY IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE CONCERNING PRIOR VIOLENT FELONIES.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in admitting the facts surrounding **Coolen's** prior violent felonies. It is the state's position that this claim is procedurally barred and without merit as the state properly presented the facts concerning the prior violent felonies.

First, as to the procedural bar, appellant concedes that evidence concerning the facts a prior violent felony is generally admissible, but contends that the prosecutor in the instant case went too far when he dwelt on Blysma's injuries by inquiring on redirect as to the extent of his injuries, his physical condition in 1987 and the level of improvement in 1994. (R 115 1-2) Although counsel had previously objected to the admission of what, he contended, 'appeared to be "victim impact" evidence,' no objection was raised to this line of questioning. Therefore, to the extent that Appellant is challenging the admission of this testimony the claim is procedurally barred as it was incumbent on counsel to renew any objection at the time the evidence was admitted. (R 1167). Accordingly, counsel's failure to renew an objection at the time of the admission of evidence waives this claim. Feller v. State, 637 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1994) (confrontation clause objection waived unless renewed at time evidence is admitted).

Even if this claim was properly preserved for appellate review, it is without merit. This Court has repeatedly held that "details of prior felony convictions involving the use or threat of violence to the victim are admissible in the penalty phase of a capital trial." Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992), citing, Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201, 1204 (Fla. 1989);

Tompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415,419 (Fla.1986), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1033, 107 S.Ct. 3277, 97 L. Ed.2d 781 (1987). "Such testimony 'assists the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime so that the jury can make an informed recommendation as to the appropriate sentence. 'Rfodes, r547 So.2d rat, 1204.h e a r s a y testimony is admissible, provided that the defendant has a fair opportunity to rebut it. Sec. 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1989); Tompkins, 502 So.2d at 419." Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992)

While appellant concedes that evidence of prior violent felonies is generally admissible, he contends, however, that in &odes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201 at 1205, this Court drew a line excluding such evidence when it gives rise to a violation of defendant's confrontation rights or when the prejudicial value outweighs the probative value. He contends that this Court in Rhodes reversed in part because irrelevant evidence describing the "physical and emotional trauma and suffering" of the victim in the prior violent felony was submitted. Accordingly, he contends that the prosecutor's admission of evidence concerning the injury suffered by Michael Bylsma was improperly admitted.

Appellant's **reliance** on **Rhodes** is misplaced. The **Rhodes** Court in no way issued a blanket ruling that evidence of the physical or emotional trauma and suffering of the victim is always inadmissible. The concern in **Rhodes** was that a taped statement of the victim at the time of the crime that was emotionally charged and, essentially unrebuttable as the victim was not available to cross-examine, was a violation of a defendant's confrontation rights. This Court specifically held:

While hearsay evidence may be admissible in penalty phase

proceedings, such evidence is admissible only if the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements. Sec. 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1985). The statements made by the Nevada victim came from a tape recording, not from a witness present in the courtroom. In Engle v. State, 438 So.2d 803, 814 (Fla. 1983), cert denied, 465 U.S. 1074, 104 S.Ct. 1430, 79 L.Ed.2d 753 (1984), we stated:

The sixth amendment right of an accused to confront the witnesses against him is a fundamental right which is made obligatory on the states by the due process of law clause of the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution. *Pointer* v. *Texas, 380* U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965). The primary interest secured by, and the major reason underlying the confrontation clause, is the right of cross-examination. *Pointerv. Texas.* This right of confrontation protected by cross-examination is a right that has been applied to the sentencing process. *Specht v. Patterson,* [386 U.S. 605, 87 S.Ct. 1209, 18 L.Ed.2d 326 (1967)].

Obviously, Rhodes did not have the opportunity to confront and cross-examine this witness. By allowing the jury to hear the taped statement of the Nevada victim describing how the defendant tried to cut her throat with a knife and the emotional trauma suffered because of it, the trial court effectively demed Rhodes this fundamental right of confronting and cross-examining a witness against him. Under these circumstances if Rhodes wished to deny or explain this testimony, he was left with no choice but to take the witness stand himself. (FN5)

Although this Court has approved the introduction of testimony concerning the details of prior felony convictions involving violence during the penalty phase of a capital trial, **Tompkins; Stano**, the line must be drawn when that testimony is not relevant, gives rise to a violation of a defendant's confrontation rights, or the prejudicial value outweighs the probative value. Not only did the introduction of the tape recording deny Rhodes his right of cross-examination, but the testimony was irrelevant and highly prejudicial to Rhodes' case. The information presented to the jury did not directly relate to the crime for which Rhodes was on trial, but instead described the physical and emotional trauma and suffering of a victim of a totally collateral crime committed by

the appellant. For these reasons, it was error for the trial court to allow the tape recording to be played before the jury.

Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201,

1204 (Fla. 1989)

This Court in **Rhodes** did not state that a prior victim can *never* testify about the extent of his or her injuries resulting from a defendant's prior violence. To the contrary, this Court has consistently approved the admission of such evidence when the defendant is afforded the opportunity to rebut such evidence. Accord, **Waterhouse** v. State, 596 **So.2d** 1008 (Fla. 1992); **Henry** v. State, 649 **So.2d** 1366, 1369 (Fla. 1994). In **Henry** v. State, 649 **So.2d** 1366, 1369 (Fla. 1994); this Court considered the holding in **Rhodes** and approved the admission of evidence concerning a prior violent felony:

[T]his Court has specifically held that details of prior felony convictions involving the use of violence to the victim are admissible in the penalty phase of the trial. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla.), cert. denied --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 418, 121 L.Ed.2d 341 (1992). Fuller was an eyewitness to the altercation between Henry and Roddy which led up to Roddy's murder as well as to the murder itself. Such testimony is unlike the emotionally charged hearsay testimony made by a prior victim who was unavailable for cross-examination and found inadmissible in Rhodes. Therefore, we do not find that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the transcript.

Henry v. State, 649 So.2d 1366, 1369

(Fla. 1994).

This was not a case such as <u>Rhodes</u>, where the victim's trauma was presented to the jury by way of a taped statement, but, rather, Blysma personally testified and was subject to **cross**-examination by appellant, That appellant could not rebut Blysma's statement of injuries only reflect on the veracity of those statements and not on a denial of **Coolen's** confrontation rights.

Accordingly, as the defendant had the opportunity to confront the witness and rebut any erroneous evidence it was not error to admit such evidence.

Appellant also relies on this Court's decision in Trawick v. State, 473 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1985) to support his claim that the admission of evidence concerning Blysma's injuries was error. Trawick is also readily distinguishable from the instant case. In that case, the state was allowed to present detailed testimony to the jury about the surviving victim's shooting, the injuries she received, and the pain she suffered in support of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor and *not* to establish the prior violent felony factor. This Court premised a finding of error on the fact that injuries suffered by the surviving victim were not relevant to question of whether the capital felony itself was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Trawick v. State, 473 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1985), citing, Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla.1975). The evidence in the instant case went exclusively to establish the prior violent felony aggravating factor and was properly admitted. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1992).

With regard to appellant's claim that certain evidence was impermissibly allowed to be presented to the jury by way of the certified copies of the Massachusetts judgment and sentence, the state also maintains the no error has been established. Coolen objected to the admission of these documents during the penalty phase. (R 1179 - 82). The state represented to the court that the Massachusetts judgment and sentence s include all information that relates to that charge. (R 1180). A review of the copies of the judgment and sentence from Massachusetts does not reveal any prejudicial evidence outside of the convictions for the prior violent felonies. While the documents clearly include extraneous information, such as continuances, none of this information was harmful to the defendant or constituted non-statutory aggravating circumstances.

Appellant also makes several reference to arguments by the prosecutor with regard to Michael Coolen's prior record. Although, he contends that Coolen was harmed by the prosecutor's misstatements, the record shows that in none of those cases did defense counsel find these statements to be so objectionable as to actually raise an objection. Accordingly, any claim based on these statements has been waived, <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990);

Bection 1987.

The state maintains that the trial court properly admitted the challenged evidence. Assuming, *arguendo*, it was error to admit Blysma's testimony as to the extent of his injuries or the Massachusetts judgment and sentences in their entirety, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as the evidence was not so prejudicial as to effect the sentence imposed. The state clearly established the existence of numerous prior violent felonies and this aggravating factor was properly found,

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTION ON LACK OF INTENT TO KILL THE VICTIM AS A MITIGATING INSTRUCTION.

As his seventh claim, appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying his request for an admittedly unclear penalty phase jury instruction to the effect that his lack of intent to kill the victim could be considered as mitigating. He contends that this was error because the sentencer cannot be precluded from considering this circumstance as mitigating. This Court has reviewed a similar claim in **DeAngelo** v. St&, 616 **So.2d** 440 **(Fla.** 1993) and found it to be without merit. Moreover, the state maintains that this claim has not been adequately preserved for appellate review.

In <u>Street v. State</u>, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1994), this Court found a challenge to the heinous, atrocious, or cruel instruction barred where the proposed instruction was also constitutionally insufficient.

Street also claims that the jury received an erroneous instruction on the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, and cruel. The instruction given was the old standard jury instruction declared invalid in Espinosa v. Florida, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). Street only sought to have the definitions of heinous, atrocious, or cruel added to the instruction. Thus, the instruction as requested also would have been constitutionally deficient. Shell v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 1, 111 S.Ct. 313, 112 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990). As a consequence, we find that Street did not preserve the issue for appeal. Roberts v. Singletary, 626 So.2d 168 (Fla.1993); Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So.2d 575, 577 (Fla.), cert. denied. --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 2049, 123 L.Ed.2d 667 (1993). In any event, even if the issue had been preserved, we conclude that

the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Street v. State</u>, 636 **So.2d** 1297 (Fla. 1994)

Apparently, the only instruction 'proposed' by counsel was during the charge conference, which is reflected in the record as follows:

THE COURT: What about non-statutory?

MR. ARMSTRONG: I've got family background, defendant's remorse, employment background, participation in **self**-help programs, alcoholism or drug use and dependency, the defendant's voluntary confession and/or cooperation with law enforcement authorities, the quality of being a caring relative, the defendant's lack of intent to kill the victim.

MR. FREDERICO: I would start with the last one first. The defendant's lack of intent is an issue --

THE COURT: That's been resolved by the jury,

MR. FREDERICO: I was going to argue that's a linger [sic]- doubt type argument. He's trying to suggest that they didn't really meet their burden in the first part of the trial. I would ask that that be stricken.

THE COURT: That one can't be given.

(T 1258-59)

The record shows that counsel did not object to the court's ruling at that time nor did he object after the instructions were given to the jury. (T 1311) As counsel did not object to the court's failure to give the instruction nor suggest a proper instruction, this claim is waived.

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